





1650), but some of the hidden lower part-bricks appear
earlier (re-used?). How about the rather specialised
yellow paving bricks? We submitted a sample yellow
paving brick to a specialist at the Museum of London.
He said it was a Dutch brick, with its main period of
import in the early to mid 17th century, but he could
not exclude an earlier date. All in all, at present it
seems most probable that the avenue was among the
£800 worth of ‘repairs and alterations’ mentioned in a
surviving valuation as being put in hand by Sir Richard
Bettenson after he bought the estate in 1655. So the
Queen and her famous contemporaries probably did not
walk upon that particular surface, though as it forms the
main entrance, they would have followed the line of the
path.

All these details, which one hopes are not too tedious,
show the difficulties which sometimes face
archaeologists when they seek to date a construction.

As this article is being written, contractors brought in
by the Borough are clearing accumulated silt, decayed
vegetation and rampant reeds from the west arm of the
moat. This has been advocated by ODAS for many
years; large machinery is required. It is expected that
the operation will lead to a better circulation of water in
the moat, although there will never be a good
throughput as the supply is only by seepage from the
rising ground to the west, and the causeway to the north
prevents flow in that part. The moat was formerly
neglected and remained largely dried out as shown, for
example, in the Ordnance Survey large-scale maps of
1843 onwards. However, around 1930, Hugh
Marsham-Townsend had it cleaned out at least partially
and replaced some moat brickwork and the missing
bridge. It is to be hoped that the current work will lead
to a healthier moat which is more beneficial to wildlife,
with less blanket-weed. At present, newts including the
Great Crested, frogs and toads, moorhen and mallard,
sometimes the inevitable Canada goose, and
occasionally a heron are all present, but are confined
mainly to the deeper eastern and northern arms. A few
small fish lurk in the dark water, probably rudd or
roach.

The winter, before Christmas, was passed in doing
some much needed clearing and tidying work on the
island, but afterwards we moved inside the walled
garden. This area used to be enclosed by a Tudor brick
wall, probably contemporary with the brick arch
mentioned above, which adjoins the garden. The
southern and eastern sides of the wall have long been
demolished, and we are excavating narrow test areas
across their probable line to find the footings and
establish its position. A long-buried pathway, probably
Victorian, has been found just inside the walls, and it is
being cleared and perhaps brought back into use.

With the approach of the coming summer weather,
kinder to archaeologists, we are looking forward to
further interesting discoveries.

Alan Hart (Orpington and District Archaeological
Society)

ODAS will be opening the Scadbury site to the public

again this September on Saturday 16 and Sunday 17, in
the afternoon.

THE MYSTERY OF CHISLEHURST CAVES

Everyone who visits the caves is told the story of the
Romans, Saxons and Druids, and how they worked
these dark subterranean passages hundreds, if not
thousands, of years ago. What is even more
extraordinary than the story itself is how it came to be
so well known in the absence of any supporting
evidence. It is quite likely that chalk was quarried here
in Roman times on the north bank of the Kyd Brook
(the site of the present car park) but the mines
themselves are certainly of much later origin.

All the evidence points to this story being a clever
marketing exercise devised by Mrs Annie Ryan, a 55
year old wealthy Lancashire widow and Mr William
James Nichols, a local resident and keen amateur
archaeologist. How and when they came to meet we do
not know, but by 1903 Mrs Ryan’s eldest son, Herbert,
had been installed as licensee of the Bickley Arms Hotel
(now renamed ‘Ye Old Stationmaster’). A few months
later, Mr Nichols presented the only paper he ever gave
to the British Archaeological Association during his
forty years membership! In it he claimed that the three
Chislehurst mines were respectively the work of
Romans, Saxons and Druids.

The theory was immediately disputed and became the
subject of controversy in the national press, whilst
posters appeared on railway stations both here and
abroad advertising the caves as an underground
Stonehenge. Oscar Hardee, a prominent local
photographer, was quick to publish a set of ten
postcards, but as he did not use the captions Roman,
Saxon and Druid, they were soon replaced. As a result
of all this publicity visitors flocked to Chislehurst. By
1905 the original tiny entrance had been widened,
electric light installed, the grounds landscaped and the
hotel completely renovated at a cost of £13,000 - an
enormous sum at the time.

Later the same year, advertising suddenly ceased, and
in July 1906 the licence was transferred to a Mr Alfred
John Cope. It appears that Mr Ryan had failed to keep
up his mortgage payments and bailiffs had repossessed
the hotel after a four hour seige involving his mother
and two brothers who finally fled after wrecking the
premises, Herbert Ryan himself was not present, for
by his own admission, he was then scarcely responsible
for his actions and could not recall how he came to sign
a document written by Mr Cope agreeing to transfer.

Later postcards show the caves being managed by Mr
George Field who ran a carriage hire business from the
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hotel stables. Possibly he was the freeholder of the
hotel and took advantage of Mr Ryan’s unexplained
illness to gain control of his successful tourist attraction.
Why the local builder, William Lowe, did not come to
the rescue is yet another mystery, as Herbert Ryan had
married his daughter in 1904. I would be delighted to
hear from anyone who can throw light on this
fascinating episode of Chislehurst history.

Eric Inman
CHISLEHURST ACADEMY 1830 - 1835

The following article is contributed by Jean Pailing,
who extracted material from a long book of memoirs by
Henry Vizetelly. Perceptive readers of “Webb’ will be
familiar with his name, in connection with a reference
to cricket on page 232, and to the school on page 51.
A second instalment will be in the Autumn 2000
edition. '

‘My new school was situated at Chislehurst, then
undiscovered by the madding crowd of excursionists and
undreamt of by the speculative builder, and remarkable
for its sequestered and rural beauty. At the time [ am
speaking of (1831), the place was as secluded as though
it was a hundred miles from the metropolis’.

Thus starts Henry Vizetelly as he describes his
Chislehurst schooldays, 1830 - 1835, in his book
‘Glances back through 70 years’. These memoirs, in
two volumes, were published in 1897.

In the dictionary of National Biography, Vizetelly is
described as a man of ‘miscellaneous’ interests and a
Pioneer of the Illustrated Press. He does indeed seem
to have led an extraordinarily active life as a journalist,
publisher and bon-viveur - this latter accounting, no
doubt, for his role as a Wine juror at both the Vienna
and Paris Exhibitions in the 1870s. On leaving school
in 1835 he had trained as an engraver and within a few
years had started up the Pictorial Times and was soon
experimenting with a variety of other illustrated
publications. However, in 1865 he was off to Paris and
later Berlin as special correspondent to the [llustrated
London News. He remained in Paris throughout the
siege and turned his experiences to good account by
producing his two-volume ‘Paris in Peril’. After his
European assignments he settled back in England and,
amongst other ventures, started to publish what were
then considered to be rather risque works by Zola.
Because of the perceived obscenity of these books
Vizetelly was tried in a court of law and, in 1889, at
the age of 69 years he had to endure three month’s
imprisonment. However, with characteristic vigour he
still went ahead with the writing of his ‘Glances back

through 70 years’ to be published just a year before his
death in 1894.

Chislehurst had figured in his life for only 5 years
although he does mention a return visit in the early
1870s. The school was kept by a Mr Wyburn.
‘Though rather elderly, he was remarkably erect, and
with his well-powdered hair, capacious white cravat,
and singularly prim attire, presented a most dignified
appearance’. Mr Wyburn seems to have been revered,
even in retrospect, but his school might not have
survived an OFSTED inspection!

Here is Henry Vizetelly’s description. ‘The school
seems to have been a capital one in all respects save
scantiness of the instructions imparted to the pupils, and
the lack of anything like discipline. But the boys, of
course, never complained of these shortcomings. The
food being excellent and plentiful, the daily tasks light
and the liberty allowed excessive, the pupils at
Chislehurst Academy were as contented as schoolboys
are ever likely to be. With the majority it was a matter
of principle to learn as little as possible, while the few
who were studiously inclined were generally chajfed or
bullied into neglecting their tasks. Written exercises
were, of course, got through easily enough by the duller
boys bribing the sharper boys to do their work for
them’.

‘At Chislehurst a boy's status in the school was not
determined by his position in his class, but solely by his
pugilistic performances. New boys were, of course, put
through the customary examination as to where (hey
lived, what their fathers were, how much the latter were
worth; whether they had any pretty sisters, and the
damsels’ ages. This inquisition over, the newcomers
were speedily matched against boys of their own size,
and had rank assigned to them according to the way
they acquitted themselves in these encounters. Though
school conflicts of this character were not openly
tolerared, they were usually winked at by the boys’
mentors, who never seemed at all curious as to the
origin of the many discoloured eyes and swollen noses’.

Vizetelly goes on to describe the joys of half holidays.
The boys would swagger forth in leather leggings for a
day of country sports. In Autumn, innocent nutting
expeditions would be the precursors to wholesale
pillaging of distant orchards. In the Spring, bird-
nesting was the rule. In the Summer there was always
cricket but for the equestrians the best prank was to
jump on a likely-looking horse which was grazing at
leisure in a field, and gallop it round and round until
some choleric farmer came upon the scene, brandishing
his stick over the 5-bar gate.

Jean Pailing
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